







EEF

2ND ASIA-PACIFIC REGIONAL EDUCATION MINISTER'S CONFERENCE (APREMC-II)



Learning Recovery and **Addressing the Learning Crisis**¹

Dr Pina Tarricone, ACER Principal Research Fellow, pina.tarricone@acer.org Dr Kemran Mestan, ACER Research Fellow, kemran.mestan@acer.org Dr Ian Teo, ACER Research Fellow, ian.teo@acer.org Yung Nietschke, ACER Research Fellow, yung.nietschke@acer.org

1 This thematic paper is part of a series prepared for the Second Asia-Pacific Regional Education Ministers' Conference (APREMC-II). The findings of this paper were used to inform the thematic discussion during the conference and were summarized in a policy brief shared with all participants ahead of the conference. All APREMC-II thematic papers and policy brief can be accessed using this link: bit.ly/APREMC2022PolicyBriefs



Table of Contents

APREMC-II background paper: Learning recovery and addressing the learning c	risis 3
Introduction	3
Analytical framework	4
I. Situation overview	8
Impact of the pandemic on learning	8
II. Strategies for learning recovery	21
Effective teaching and learning	21
Supporting the whole school community	28
Other considerations for building medium- to long-term learning recovery	32
III. Opportunities for learning recovery	34
IV. Policy recommendations	
Initial actions for learning recovery: Curriculum, assessment and pedagogy	
Medium- to-long-term actions for addressing the learning crisis	40
V. References	46

Learning recovery and addressing the learning crisis

Introduction

This background paper was prepared to inform the thematic panel discussion on Learning Recovery and Addressing the Learning Crisis at the 2nd Asia-Pacific Regional Education Ministerial Conference (APREMC-II) in June 2022.

The purpose of this paper is to provide key recommendations for the provision and delivery of school education2 to facilitate post-COVID-19 learning recovery in the immediate and short-term. The recommendations focus on how education systems could provide safe schools and deliver a more equitable, inclusive and relevant education for all learners.

The pandemic has disrupted education for approximately 1.6 billion students globally, forced school closures and shifted learning towards remote and blended modalities (Global Education Evidence Advisory Panel, 2022; UNESCO, 2021a; UNESCO & UNICEF, 2022).

Such disruptions threaten to deepen the 'learning crisis' that existed prior to the pandemic and impede the progress made towards access to quality education, particularly for the most vulnerable learners.

As education systems in the Asia-Pacific region seek to recover from the pandemic by reopening schools, it is incumbent on governments to identify recovery strategies that have enabled education access and learning continuity and to determine the approaches that best support education systems' resilience, post-pandemic.

This will be challenging as school closures in the region varied significantly, with some schools, such as those in India (eighty-two weeks), Indonesia (seventy-seven weeks) and Bangladesh (seventy-three weeks), being fully or partially closed3 for more than a year.

Those in other countries were closed for much less, such as in Vanuatu (four weeks), Papua New Guinea (six weeks) and the Solomon Islands (seven weeks), up to the date of 30 November 2021 (UNESCO, 2021a). Examples provided in the background paper draw from a range of countries that were fully or partially closed for different durations during the response and recovery phases of the pandemic.

This introduction presents the analytical framework used to guide the research, with a focus on learning recovery within education emergency management. Definitions of Response-Recovery-Preparation emergency management phases are provided.

Throughout the paper, selected country examples are presented in boxes to highlight key curriculum, pedagogy and assessment innovations implemented by Asia-Pacific countries.

² Another background paper will cover the skills crisis and employability in Adolescent Learning and Skills Development.

³ Full school closures refer to situations where all schools were closed at the nationwide level due to COVID-19, while partial school closures refers to school closures in some regions or for some grades, or with reduced in-person instruction.

The focus of this paper is on learning recovery. This paper also presents evidence about sustaining recovery as relevant for the ongoing adoption of curriculum adaption, flexible learning strategies and different assessment approaches to address the learning crisis.

Analytical framework

The analytical framework underlying the learning recovery background paper was guided by the **Policy Monitoring Framework (PMF)** below (Figure 1), and the **Reach-Assess-Prioritize-Increase-Develop (RAPID)** framework (Figure 2).

The PMF was developed from a rapid review of literature of over 250 documents relating to education in emergencies, including the COVID-19 pandemic. This review was conducted by ACER, and supported by the Global Education Monitoring (GEM) Centre (Tarricone, Mestan et al., 2021).



Figure 1: Policy Monitoring Framework (PMF) for building a resilient education system (Tarricone, Mestan et al., 2021)

The **RAPID framework** is an essential guide to learning recovery from pandemic-induced disruptions to schooling and learning (see Figure 2). The RAPID approach builds on the findings of a survey (and other sources) that sampled 122 countries and queried the extent that they had effectively engaged in learning recovery (UNICEF et al., 2022).

The RAPID learning recovery framework focuses on five action areas including reaching every child and retaining them in school; assessing learning levels; prioritising teaching the fundamentals; increasing catch-up learning and progress beyond what was lost; and developing psychosocial health and wellbeing so that every child is ready to learn (UNICEF et al., 2022).



Figure 2: RAPID Learning Recovery Framework

Policy Monitoring Framework

Central to the Policy Monitoring Framework (PMF) is the goal of monitoring the implementation and progress of education policies within an education system by policymakers. The PMF identifies distinct, but interdependent factors, **Systems, Teaching and Learning** and **Agents,** relevant to supporting learning recovery, building resilient education systems and supporting broader systems transformation.

These factors are considered within **Response-Recovery-Preparation** emergency management phases, discussed below, that can be used to characterise the cyclical process of disruptions to education. Collectively, these phases and factors frame policy considerations that enable policymakers to monitor education policies during disruptions to teaching and learning (Tarricone, Mestan et al., 2021).

The **Systems factor** refers to formal and informal central processes, practices, networks and relations that public and private bodies – for example, institutions and civil society groups – engage in. For instance, education policies, legislation and sociocultural practices are systems that can influence and be influenced by learning crisis situations (Tarricone, Mestan et al., 2021).

The **Teaching and Learning factor** refers to education-specific activities, resources, delivery platforms, student assessment, classroom pedagogies and practices and curricular content. This factor is focused on issues that are directly related to how teachers teach and how students learn and are assessed (Tarricone, Mestan et al., 2021).

The **Agents factor** refers to entities that make decisions and act. Agents include individual people, groups, or organisations, for example, parents/guardians, families, teachers, children, refugees, asylum seekers, internally displaced persons, local government, government agencies and NGOs (Tarricone, Mestan et al., 2021).

Framing learning recovery and addressing the learning crisis

Governments seeking to support the needed learning recovery due to COVID-19 and address the ongoing learning crisis are likely to develop and implement policies and practices that overlap across the three emergency management phases, presented in Figure 1.

The continuation of such policies and practices supports short-term learning recovery, as guided by the RAPID framework, as well as medium- to long-term goals for learning recovery.

The **Response** phase during the COVID-19 pandemic has been characterized by prioritizing immediate/short-term actions to completely or partially close schools, while also implementing remote and blended learning modalities, for example, television, radio, digital platforms, take-home learning packs or downloaded educational packages.

During the **Recovery** phase, there was and continues to be, an emphasis on the safe reopening of schools and/or managing remote and blended learning modalities to support a return to onsite learning. This phase has seen the implementation of learning recovery programmes and initiatives that aim to overcome learning loss as a result of pandemic-induced school closures and disruptions to learning, as well as to meet minimum SDG 4 proficiency standards in core competencies. In this regard, policymakers across the Asia-Pacific region have sought to recover from the pandemic by implementing policies and practices that focus broadly on:

- 1. Managing the timely closing and re-opening of schools.
- 2. Using digital technology to support remote and blended learning.
- 3. Continuing high stakes assessments.
- 4. Implementation of community and local government initiatives.
- 5. Supporting teachers and school leaders.
- 6. Health and safety measures, such as WASH.
- 7. Supporting learner wellbeing and their educational outcomes (Humanitarian Advisory Group & VANGO, 2020; UNESCO, 2020b, UNESCO & UNICEF, 2021a, 2021d, 2021e).

The **Preparedness** phase is essential to 'building back better' post-pandemic. This involves preparing for future disruptions to schooling and ensuring that an education system and schools can quickly implement a range of flexible learning strategies.

During this phase, policymakers can be expected to implement policies and practices that enhance education system resilience against future disruptions to education, as well as a focus on addressing the learning crisis.

This includes ensuring that minimum SDG 4 proficiency standards in core competencies can be achieved, that all students have the opportunity to pursue further education and contribute positively to the economy and society and that potential systemic reforms are continuous with – or differentiated in the

case of system transformation – Recovery phase policies and practices (Tarricone, Mestan, et al., 2021; Tarricone, Teo, et al., 2021; UNICEF et al., 2022).

Literature review

The background paper was developed based on evidence from a literature review. This background paper included a review of over sixty-five documents, including those from key organizations such as UNESCO, UNICEF and the World Bank. The review also draws on previous ACER research including recent evidence relating to COVID-19 recovery and the broader learning crisis.

Documents included regional and national reports/case studies, grey literature and other publications. To analyse the data from the literature a code frame was developed, guided by the PMF and RAPID framework, to focus on learning recovery (see Figure 2) (UNICEF et al., 2022).

Structure of paper

Section I presents a situation overview focusing on the **Impact of the pandemic on learning**, including learning loss and education inequality.

Section II presents strategies for learning recovery and focuses on **Effective teaching and learning**, including curricular adaptions and prioritization, pedagogical approaches, including flexible learning strategies, formative and summative assessments and supporting and engaging families and the community and broader considerations for building medium- to long-term learning recovery and addressing the learning crisis.

Section III presents challenges and opportunities for learning recovery.

Section IV presents **policy recommendations** for initial action for learning recovery and mid- to long-term actions for addressing the learning crisis.

I. Situation overview

This section provides an overview of the impact of the pandemic on learning. Specifically, it addresses the learning crisis that existed in the Asia-Pacific region prior to the pandemic and student learning loss post-pandemic. This section closes with a discussion of the impact of the pandemic on student learning outcomes.

Impact of the pandemic on learning

Learning crisis

The impact of the pandemic in the Asia-Pacific region is expected to worsen the pre-existing learning crisis. Millions of children have been completing primary school without being able to master foundation skills in literacy and numeracy, as well as broader transversal skills (also known as 21st century skills) for later work and life (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2022).

The 5-Year Progress Review of SDG 4 – Education 2030 in the Asia-Pacific, which refers to much data prior to the pandemic, indicated that despite overall improvement, most countries were unlikely to achieve SDG 4. SDG 4.1.1 specifically refers to the proportion of boys and girls in each country achieving minimum proficiency levels (MPLs) in reading and mathematics in Grades Two and Three at the end of primary school and the end of lower secondary school (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2021a).

Minimal Proficiency Levels (MPLs) SDG 4.1.1

Reading nutshell statement: Students accurately read aloud and understand written words from familiar contexts. They retrieve explicit information from very short texts. When listening to slightly longer texts, they make simple inferences.

Mathematics nutshell statement: Students recognize, read, write, order and compare whole numbers up to 100. They demonstrate computational skills involving the processes of addition, subtraction, doubling and halving for whole numbers within twenty. They recognize and name familiar shapes and describe location in a space using simple language. (ACER, 2022)

Where data is available for countries in the Asia-Pacific region, less than fifty per cent of children in the early grades meet the minimum proficiency in reading and mathematics (see Figure 3) (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2021a). This percentage is smaller in later education levels, where young people in the Asia-Pacific region are less likely to complete lower and upper secondary education (see Figure 4).





Figure 3: Proportion of students achieving minimum proficiency level in reading and mathematics by education level in selected countries, 2019 (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2021a)



Figure 4: Completion rate for primary, lower secondary and upper secondary education in selected countries in the Asia-Pacific region (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2021a)

There is a lack of comparable data across countries that measures performance against SDG 4.1.1 indicators across the Asia-Pacific; however, there are two large-scale assessments in the region that provide such data for some countries: the Southeast Asia Primary Learning Metrics (SEA-PLM) and the Pacific Islands Literacy and Numeracy Assessment (PILNA). SEA-PLM 2019 found that only two of six South-East Asian nations had more than half of children at the end of primary school meeting the minimum proficiency level in reading and mathematics (UNICEF & SEAMEO, 2020).

Similarly, PILNA found that across the fifteen Pacific Island countries that participated in 2018, on average less than fourteen per cent of children for mathematics and less than seventeen per cent for reading, achieved the minimum proficiency level by the end of primary school (ACER, 2019).

An important consideration with respect to the learning crisis is that despite international commitments to provide universal access to primary and secondary education, there have not been significant global reductions of children and youth who are out-of-school. Recent out-of-school global trends appear to be plateauing (Figure 5a), with a decline in numbers of approximately one million from 2015 to 2018.

The Asia-Pacific region has the highest percentage of out-of-school children and youth, who collectively make up fifty per cent of the world's out-of-school population (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2021a). Upper secondary school-age students are also more than four times as likely to be out-of-school than primary school-age students and more than twice as likely as those of lower secondary school age.

Out-of-school children are also the most vulnerable. Children who drop out in the early grades are at risk of not achieving basic literacy and numeracy and those who do not transition to secondary education and further training have less opportunity to obtain the necessary skills and certifications to participate in the labour market.

There are significant gender disparities in the proportion of out-of-school children in the region, with varying scale and patterns of disadvantage across sub-regions (Figure 5a). For example, as shown in Figure 5b, more boys are out of school in South-East Asia and more girls are out of school in South Asia (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2021a).



Figure 5a: Global number of out-of-school primary, lower secondary, and upper secondary age children, 2000-2018 (UIS, 2019).



Adjusted gender parity index of out-of-school rate, 2018 or latest year

Figure 5b: Adjusted gender parity index of out-of-school rate, 2018 or latest year (UIS, 2019)

Figure 5c shows the current state of learning poverty for primary school completion in a selection of countries located in East Asia and the Pacific and South Asia (July 2022). Learning poverty refers to the proportion of children who are unable to read and understand a simple text by the age of ten.

This indicator combines schooling and learning indicators by accounting for the share of children who have not achieved minimum reading proficiency, as measured in schools, and is adjusted by the proportion of children who are out of school, and are assumed to be unable to read proficiently (the World Bank, 2021a).

While this learning crisis has attracted greater attention in recent years, it has also occurred within the broader global contexts of declining poverty headcounts (Figure 5d) and increasing rates of school enrolments (Figure 5e) for almost two decades (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2022).

This suggests, then, that despite longstanding evidence that poverty rates are decreasing and access to education is increasing, countries are still struggling to achieve SDG 4.1.1., for example, minimum proficiency standards and that this learning crisis preceded disruptions to learning caused by the COVID-19 pandemic.



Figure 5c: State of learning poverty (October 2019) across a section of countries in the Asia-Pacific (the World Bank, 2021a)



Figure 5d: Poverty headcount ratio at US\$1.90 a day (percentage of global population)⁴ (the World Bank, 2022a)

Learning poverty 93.447998

8.5534172

57.18285

51.10181 18.200001

3.2314355

54.750999

35.392326

2.1971195

2.9515307

3.654103

12.933426

39.459766

11.355703 74.543739

69.525688

2.8044221

14.790162

23.464947

1.6726506

⁴ The poverty headcount ratio at US\$1.90 a day highlights the percentage of the global population that is living on US\$1.90 at 2011 international prices.



Figure 5e: Global enrolments of male and female students in primary, lower secondary, and upper secondary education (the World Bank, 2022b)

Outside of these global contexts, the Chinese education system was continuing to improve on indicators such as student attendance, retention rates and primary and secondary school completion rates. This is despite ongoing challenges such as student attrition, education quality and poverty (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2021b).

In Vanuatu, the government used lessons learned from previous crises to better prepare for future natural disasters and to deploy support and initiatives, including those to support school communities and learners (Humanitarian Advisory Group & VANGO, 2020).

Lessons learned from crises that were similar in-kind to the pandemic, for example, the SARS outbreak, or other natural disasters, for example cyclones, droughts, earthquakes and floods, were drawn from by governments to inform their decisions during the pandemic (Humanitarian Advisory Group & VANGO, 2020; UNESCO & UNICEF, 2021b; UNICEF, 2020a). The deepening learning crisis necessitates remedial action to be taken by governments and education stakeholders to prioritize learning recovery now, post the pandemic, and into the future.

Learning loss

Learning loss is broadly characterised by factors that result in missed opportunities for, or disruption to, learning and learning continuity. Most notably, learning losses are not uniform across society and were most likely to arise because of school closures during the pandemic and a lack of education access and equity for the most vulnerable students⁵ (UNICEF et al., 2022).

Education systems globally, and across the Asia-Pacific region, implemented school closures to mitigate the spread of COVID-19. As a result, it is estimated that the school closures impacted more than 1.2 billion children across the Asia-Pacific, threatening to deepen the learning crisis that already existed before the pandemic (Global Education Evidence Advisory Panel, 2022; UNESCO, 2021b). It is expected that post-pandemic, 10.7 million learners across the Asia-Pacific region will be at risk of not returning to childcare

⁵ Other manifestations of learning loss include 'summer learning loss' as a result of summer breaks between semesters; returning dropouts; prolonged school absences, for example, due to health-related issues; ineffective teaching; and improper course scheduling (The Glossary of Education Reform, 2013).

and learning centres, schools and higher education once these reopen (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2022). Consequently, learning will need to be mitigated in the short- and medium-term (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2022).

Understanding the extent of learning loss requires a systematic and scientific method of measurement that provides internationally comparable information. However, less than half of the countries surveyed by the Global Education Evidence Advisory Panel (2022) reported having plans in place to measure learning loss at the primary level and only a third at the secondary level. Although data from large-scale assessments is unavailable or limited, various rapid assessments and non-representative surveys in the Asia-Pacific region show some early evidence of learning loss, as shown in Boxes 1 and 2.

Box 1. In Lao PDR, preliminary results from a survey of twelve case study schools found that most teachers and principals reported that students forgot the lessons when schools reopened (Wong et. al., in press). Similarly, teachers in Vanuatu reported having to repeat lessons when students returned to school (Cassity et al., in press).

There is currently limited evidence drawing on assessment results following school lockdowns in lowincome countries in the Asia-Pacific. Nonetheless, the evidence that is available suggests that the disruption to education caused by the pandemic has impeded learning progress for most students, with younger students and those from marginalized backgrounds most effected (Sabine et al., 2022).

Box 2. A study in India during the pandemic, conducted by Pratham (2021), showed decreases in both literacy and numeracy at the primary level, equivalent to one year of schooling.

Evidence from the Annual Status of Education Report (ASER) in four districts of South Asia: Chhattisgarh, Karnataka and West Bengal in India, and Punjab in Pakistan, found that in all three districts, on average, children's foundational reading and arithmetic levels were lower after school lockdowns than prior to the pandemic (Pratham, 2020, 2021, 2022a). For example, in Pakistan not only was there a significant learning loss, but girls reading performance declined more than boys, as can be seen in Figure 6.



Figure 6: Pakistan: Urdu reading performance levels by gender in ASER assessment

These findings have been reaffirmed by a study of Bangladeshi girls, aged twelve to nineteen, which found that, because of interruptions to schooling caused by COVID-19, student mathematical and reading competence significantly declined, with median scores falling by 6.25 per cent (Amin et al., 2021).

Children from low socioeconomic status groups and those in rural areas were disproportionately affected by the lack of learning opportunities, which has seen overall learning loss and widening disparities in learning achievements (Fukami, 2021).

Box 3. In the Republic of Korea, teachers have reported widening achievement gaps between learners from higher socio-economic brackets and those from lower socio-economic brackets as a result of online learning (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2021e).

Due to prolonged school closures, students are likely to be significantly behind the learning levels of a typical year, with some groups experiencing even wider learning gaps. Returning to pre-COVID system performance, however, will not resolve the long-standing challenge of existing low levels of learning outcomes and the impact of the pandemic on learning progress.

It is critical to monitor learning outcomes, provide learning recovery programmes and focus the curriculum by further streamlining the most essential learning competencies. Furthermore and perhaps most importantly, there is a need to build on reforming existing structural challenges, for example, the mismatch between the language of instruction and students' language proficiency (Cho et al., 2021).

To recover from learning losses caused by the pandemic, UNESCO (2021) provides guidance on the measures policymakers need to implement in order to reverse the negative impact:

- 1. Adjust and streamline curricula.
- 2. Assess learning needs to provide more individualized remedial support, especially for struggling students.
- 3. Strength teacher preparation and support.
- 4. Improve teaching materials and textbook availability.
- 5. Invest in education technology.
- 6. Focus on social-emotional learning.
- 7. Ensure gender equality.

Learning inequality

Emerging evidence shows increased learning inequality in low- and middle-income countries as a result of COVID-19 (Global Education Evidence Advisory Panel, 2022; Sabine et al., 2022). During school closures, all countries developed plans to enable children to continue learning through remote modalities. Overall, education systems were unprepared for the large-scale implementation of remote learning. In many countries where remote learning was implemented, there was insufficient reach due to poor infrastructure, a lack of mobile and Internet connectivity and a lack of resources and digital devices to support learning. The quality of remote learning remains debatable. Teachers were ill-prepared for online teaching due to a lack of digital skills, training and resources.

Many students were not able to access the curriculum or engage with teachers during home learning (Adam & Gochyyev, n.d.; Durnnian, 2020; Li, n.d.). Lacking access to technology or not having an appropriate home environment impedes learning – especially for children who are affected by their ethnicity, disability, gender, poverty, or other factors that result in marginalization or discrimination (Alasuutari, 2020; UNESCO & UNICEF, 2021e).

Young children are particularly vulnerable to missing out on learning during the pandemic and the impact is much more pronounced. At the height of the pandemic, ninety-nine per cent of early childhood education (ECE) students in the Asia-Pacific region did not access learning and by the end of 2020, less than fifty per cent attended learning centres (UIS,2021).

Given that up to two-thirds of ECE providers in the Asia-Pacific region are private, there is a growing risk that economic hardships due to the pandemic will limit parents' ability to pay for their children to access early learning (UIS, 2021). ECE is a critical stage in children's development and disruptions to learning at this level can have detrimental impacts on academic, socio-emotional and cognitive development.

All these factors are exacerbated for the most disadvantaged students, where growing inequality threatens to further push vulnerable students behind, impacting their learning outcomes, human capital development and lifetime earning potential (Saavedra, 2020).

Socioeconomic background

While all countries in the Asia-Pacific relied on digital devices and technology to support learning from home during the pandemic, not all attempts to support learning reached the learners most in need. For example, insights from the World Bank show that children in Nepal have had limited access to active remote learning and support throughout COVID-related school closures (Radhakrishnan et al., 2021).

Pre-existing challenges, for example, household inequalities, were also further exacerbated during the pandemic (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2022). Available data from 2018 shows that across all countries in the Asia-Pacific region, students from poor families were less likely to achieve minimum proficiency standards in reading and mathematics at the end of lower secondary education, compared to those from wealthier families (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2021a).

This was also observed in high-income countries such as Singapore, where only twenty-eight per cent of students from the poorest households met minimum proficiency levels in mathematics at the end of lower secondary, compared to those from the richest households.

COVID-19 appeared to exacerbate the learning gaps between high- and low-income households (ACER & UNESCO Institute for Statistics, 2022; Gouëdard et al., 2020; Li, n.d.; van Cappelle et al., 2021). Wealthier families can afford to support children's learning through extra tuition and supervised learning.

Conversely, students from low socioeconomic backgrounds were usually not provided with this support and consequently were less confident in completing schoolwork (Sabine et al., 2022).

Box 4. The Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology (MEXT) in Japan have been providing top-up Internet communication payments to support learning from home and it has been waiving tuition fees upon schools re-opening (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2021d).

Gender

Gender disparities were not consistent across countries during COVID-19 school disruptions, with girls having higher attrition rates than boys in South Asia, while this was lower in some parts of the Pacific (Global Education Evidence Advisory Panel, 2022). However, with limited access to disaggregated data, these issues are difficult to assess and monitor.

Data available prior to the pandemic indicate that while the gender gaps in education access and completion have declined globally over the last twenty years, gender parity at the primary level has not been reached in many countries, including Afghanistan, the Maldives, Nepal and Pakistan (UNESCO, 2022). Before the pandemic, girls were outperforming boys in lower secondary education, with a higher proportion of girls achieving minimum proficiency by the end of lower secondary school and they were more likely to enter tertiary education (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2021a).

However, with the onset of the pandemic, more girls and young women have faced additional barriers to education due to an increased burden of unpaid care, domestic work, and home schooling.

Girls in some countries had less access to remote learning during the pandemic, with parents in Bangladesh and Pakistan reporting giving boys more access to smartphones than girls for home learning activities (UNESCO, 2021c).

Box 5. Girls' enrolment has improved across Central Asia, East Asia, South Asia and Oceania. The SEA-PLM 2019 regional report showed that girls from participating countries outperformed boys in reading and writing, while their counterparts in Cambodia, Malaysia and the Philippines outperformed boys in mathematics (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2022).

A promising practice related to promoting the education of girls in Papua New Guinea and parts of India has been providing teacher training materials to advise how gender equality might be practised in the classroom. Likewise, parenting packs have been created to support positive parenting, gender equality and an encouraging home learning environment (Tarricone, Teo et al., 2021).

Box 6. Approximately 1.2 million girls in East Asia and the Pacific are also expected to be more at risk of dropping out once schools re-open. Early and forced marriage, unintended pregnancy and health and nutrition continue to be of concern (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2022).

Disability

The pandemic has highlighted the continuing issue education systems face to ensure that all children have accessible learning opportunities for children with disabilities. Children and youth with disabilities are significantly under-represented in education systems due to barriers with access and opportunities to participate in learning activities.

It is estimated that fifty per cent of children with disabilities in low-income countries in the Asia-Pacific region do not go to school (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2021). For those able to attend school, learning achievement is limited by adequate support, appropriate resources and lack of teachers' capacity to meet their learning needs. As a result, children with disabilities tend to have shorter years of schooling and lower literacy rates compared to children without disabilities (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2021a).

Modifications and special programmes to produce more inclusive education for children with disabilities were interrupted during the pandemic; hence learning recovery will be especially important for children with disabilities (Tarricone, Mestan et al., 2021).

The lack of disaggregated data makes it difficult to determine the number of children with disabilities impacted by COVID-19 school disruptions and impossible to assess the extent of educational support provided for them.

Less than twenty-five per cent of Asia-Pacific countries have data sets outlining the number of schools that have been adapted for children with disabilities (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2022). Significant data gaps mean that children with disabilities will remain largely 'invisible' in education systems.

However, understanding pre-COVID vulnerabilities can shed light on the experience of children with disabilities during the pandemic and help identify areas for intervention post-pandemic.

Box 7. The Maldives has reported that all schools have been adapted for students with disability, while in Bangladesh this rate of adaptation has been reported to be twenty per cent (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2022).

Refugee, asylum seeker and internally displacement status

Children in conflict-affected countries are more than twice as likely to be out of school than those in noncrisis affected countries (UNESCO, 2015). Specifically, the likelihood that refugee children will be out of school is double that of non-refugees, increasing because of additional natural disasters or conflicts.

Box 8. In Cox's Bazar, Bangladesh, COVID-19 resulted in only one per cent of six to fourteen year old girls and four per cent of fifteen to eighteen year old girls, receiving an education in comparison to nine per cent and fourteen per cent of boys of a similar age, respectively (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2022).

Available data from thirteen Asia-Pacific countries reveals that only thirty-two per cent of primary schoolaged refugee children had access to a formal primary education during the pandemic. Attacks on education, for example, violence being perpetuated against schools, school personnel and students, in countries like Afghanistan, India, Myanmar, Pakistan and the Philippines have also disrupted education for school-aged children (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2022).

Geographical remoteness

Children from rural or remote areas are more likely to experience negative learning outcomes during the pandemic due to a lack of access to electricity, mobile and Internet services (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2021a). While low-tech modalities, such as televisions and radio, were used widely by governments in the Asia-Pacific to provide continued access to learning during school closures, the quality of such interventions remains questionable (Yarrow & Bhardwaj, 2020).

In rural and remote regions in low- and middle-income countries, up to seventy per cent of ten year olds may be unable to read basic text due to a lack of quality learning environments and school closures caused by COVID-19 (Patrinos & Bustillo, 2022). This is reaffirmed by findings of the ASER studies in rural India and Pakistan (Pratham, 2020, 2021, 2022a) which found that children's literacy and numeracy skills decreased because of school lockdowns.

School lockdowns have worsened an existing divide between rural and urban students. For example, amongst six Asia-Pacific countries and regions that participated in PISA 2013, all of them showed that rural students performed worse in science results than urban students – even after accounting for their socioeconomic status (Echazarra & Radinger, 2019).

Similarly, the 2019 South East Asia Primary Learning Metrics (SEA-PLM) showed that children from rural areas did not perform as well as their urban counterparts in reading, writing and mathematics (UNICEF & SEAMEO, 2020).

Accordingly, the process of recovering from pandemic-induced disruptions to schooling and addressing the ongoing learning crisis influenced by geographical remoteness will require policymakers to engage quickly and directly with communities to ensure that interventions are successful and that their needs and capacities are addressed (Humanitarian Advisory Group & VANGO, 2020; UNESCO & UNICEF, 2021e).

In the Pacific, for example, the combined crises of the pandemic and tropical Cyclone Harold in April 2020 saw policymakers and local communities and organisations in Vanuatu work promptly and collaboratively to deliver crises response and community-led initiatives, with a focus on supporting rural or remote communities (Humanitarian Advisory Group & VANGO, 2020).

Similarly, policymakers in the Republic of Korea aimed to recover from the pandemic by working with local education offices to support schools and teachers to deliver teaching within online environments and support students' online learning experience, particularly in remote regions and islands (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2021e).

Box 9. In the Republic of Korea, the move to online learning was reported to have negatively impacted learners from low-income migrant families, those living in remote and rural areas and students with disabilities who might require specialized equipment and resources.

Wellbeing

Student wellbeing was harmed by school closures across the Asia-Pacific region. Teachers also reported declines in their wellbeing during school closures, where teacher workload typically increased (Sabine et al., 2022).

The impact on student and teacher wellbeing were found to be higher among specific groups including girls, those from lower socioeconomic backgrounds, ethnic minority groups and those with poor general health (Global Education Evidence Advisory Panel, 2022).

The impacts of school closures and the move to remote learning have negatively impacted access to programmes that support wellbeing. Prior to the pandemic, approximately 129 million students in the Asia-Pacific benefited from receiving school meals through government programmes (WFP, 2021).

The pandemic has resulted in many of these students not receiving these meals and essential health services provided in schools, for example, access to water and sanitation, micronutrient supplements, vaccinations and education services for health, sexual reproduction and life skills.

Isolation caused by long periods of lockdowns, with few opportunities to participate in outdoor exercise and social events, has produced tension between children and parents. Importantly, student wellbeing has also been affected by increases in domestic violence and it will be necessary to provide socioemotional support services to deal with this negative trend.

The issues affecting student and teacher wellbeing spans different country contexts. Even in high-income countries like Singapore, mental health helplines reported an increase in the number of calls from primary school pupils due to online schoolwork expectations and the fear of losing friends (Dabrowski et al., 2022).

In Sri Lanka, lockdowns have resulted in teachers reporting that students display decreased activity and skills use upon returning to school and are likely to be reserved, angry or impatient with others (Kanda, 2022).

In the Republic of Korea, student wellbeing was affected by family loss of income or employment; cyberbullying and online abuse, with girls being at greater risk; and domestic violence and child abuse.

Actions taken to support mental health include focusing more on social-emotional needs to offset an emphasis on teacher-centric content learning, greater investment in counselling and legislation related to cyber safety (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2021e).

It is encouraging that policy and school leaders often prioritized student wellbeing, implementing a number of strategies, including checking-in with students, contacting families, providing counselling and home visits (ACER & UNESCO Institute for Statistics, 2022; Pratham, 2022b).

Box 10. In Fiji and Vanuatu, the government prioritized wellbeing by drawing from lessons learned from previous emergencies and focusing on teachers and students' mental health and need for psychosocial support during school closures and reopenings (UNICEF, 2020a).

II. Strategies for learning recovery

This section explores evidence of promising practices, at the system and school levels, to support effective teaching and improved learning outcomes for all students. Strategies for learning recovery will be described and supplemented with examples of strategies implemented in countries across the Asia-Pacific region. The strategies will focus primarily on 'effective teaching and learning' over the shorter term, which can serve as the foundation for medium- to long-term recovery strategies.

Effective teaching and learning

Effective classroom practices to influence learning recovery are presented below. Cross-cutting factors are also discussed, including, equity, inclusion, differentiation, collaboration, leadership, growth and supporting teachers.

Supporting student engagement and learning requires effective teaching practice and strong connections with parents and the school community. On schools reopening, the OECD, UN and World Bank emphasize the need to look beyond the status-quo, which was already failing learners, and to use the COVID-19 disruptions as an opportunity to 'build back better' (Dabrowski et al., 2022).

Curricular adaptions and prioritization

A range of approaches need to be implemented for the curriculum to support learning recovery. Adapting the curriculum by covering both missed and new content when schools resume can help to promote effective learning recovery.

Many countries reported prioritizing competencies to bring students up to speed when schools resumed, which often involves prioritizing competencies in literacy and numeracy and focusing on foundational skills and reviewing content (Global Education Evidence Advisory Panel, 2022).

This is consistent with evidence suggesting that 'acceleration', for example, focusing on what must be learned, is an effective catch-up strategy (UNESCO, 2020). The Responses to Education Disruption study found that where teaching and learning continued, more than half the teachers reported that they narrowed the focus of the curriculum and modified components of the practical curriculum (Sabine et al., 2022).

Most students also reported that their teachers spent time reviewing the curriculum when they returned to school (Sabine et al., 2022). This is consistent with findings from Lao PDR and Vanuatu, where many teachers repeated lessons and adapted the curriculum to cover key content (Wong et al., 2021; Cassity et al., in press).

Prioritizing competencies has the potential to accelerate learning, as evidenced by Pratham's Teaching at the Right Level (TaRL) programme, where it was found that students who participated in the 'intensive bursts' method, showed significantly increased test scores in language and mathematics (USAID, 2020).

When schools reopened, many countries in the Asia-Pacific implemented remedial strategies. When effective remote learning was not pervasive, this entailed repeating essential content to entire cohorts (Tarricone, Mestan et al., 2021). In countries where the efficacy of remote learning was greater, diagnostic assessments were used to identify students who had fallen behind and then direct specific tuition towards them (Tarricone, Mestan et al., 2021).

During the pandemic, countries such as the Philippines and China streamlined the curriculum to focus on the most essential elements (Tarricone, Teo et al., 2021). For instance, the curriculum in China was adapted to support a holistic approach by allowing for physical exercise and psychological support.

Support provided included: online lessons, guidance to parent committees, and developing safe online teaching and learning environments, for example, protecting students from cyberbullying.

Additionally, parents were also supported to address myopia in children, with evidence suggesting there was an increase in short-sightedness due to increased screen time resulting from online learning (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2021a). The national curriculum was also adapted with respect to time, distance learning structures and content (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2021a).

Differentiated teaching by targeting instruction at children's learning level has been shown to be costeffective as a remediation strategy. This includes grouping children by level and using teaching assistants and volunteers to provide targeted instruction in school, as well as, providing out of school catch up programmes (Global Education Evidence Advisory Panel, 2022).

During the pandemic, teachers and principals reported that targeted teaching was directed towards learning areas where students had not progressed to the expected level of achievement (Sabine et al., 2022).

Blended learning

Many countries in the Asia-Pacific implemented some degree of blended learning prior to COVID-19, but the pandemic accelerated this development. Blended learning involves combining modalities, so while

some teaching occurs in person, other teaching occurs remotely. Across the Asia-Pacific region, education systems employed a range of modalities, including high-tech, low-tech and no tech solutions.

In higher income countries, such as Singapore and Japan, blended learning largely incorporated digital technology, where students used personal computers to access specially designed content, activities and interaction via learning management systems.

However, in lower income countries, such as in Bhutan and Nepal, where there is less access to computers and the Internet, blended learning often involved making use of broadcasting to transmit content complemented by interaction via social media accessed on phones (Tarricone, Teo et al., 2021; Tarricone, Mestan et al., 2021).

Several countries also ensured that blended learning involved inclusive pedagogy, focusing on children with disability and those from minority language backgrounds. For example, learning materials have been adapted, such as videos incorporating sign language, closed captions or sub-titles, and print material incorporating braille (Tarricone, Teo et al., 2021).

The 'with schools reopened' stage in China, saw greater government emphasis on strengthening blended learning by integrating online and offline learning and promoting independent learning. Specifically, China's blended teaching and learning approach utilized short online micro-classes, offline independent learning and traditional resources.

High quality online courses, including micro-courses and resources developed by master teachers and curriculum development teams were also made available across the country. Blended learning was also supported through China's Ministry of Education through constructing resource banks, increasing investment in ICT equipment and Internet access and deploying live satellite TV (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2021a).

Comparable approaches were used in Japan; with key lessons learned including a lack of clarity about the learning outcomes of blended learning and that the implementation of ICT within a blended learning approach should not be an end in itself (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2021d).

A challenge of implementing blended learning within a developing country context is the lack of technology. For example, in Pakistan, only thirty-four per cent of households have Internet access and fourteen per cent have computers, with girls having more limited access to digital resources than boys (Ejaz et al., 2022).

Television, radio and print materials

Television and radio were cited as the most popular modality used in low-income countries. However, the lack of access to electricity has meant that many children relied on print material for home learning (GPE, 2020a; 2020b; UNICEF, 2020b). The lack of a reliable electricity supply presents a significant barrier to education delivery using television and radio.

The penetration of mobile phones is considerably higher than radio or television in many countries in the Asia-Pacific, even among the poorest populations and those in rural and remote areas. This presents an opportunity for the delivery of learning through mobile phones, supplemented by take home packs.

Box 11. A survey in Samoa found that ninety per cent of schools relied on printed resources for learning during the pandemic (Queensland Department of Education, 2021). In rural Samoa, where there is typically a single school in each village, teachers reported walking from one end of the village to the other to deliver printed learning resources to students at home (Queensland Department of Education, 2021).

Learning continuity in China was managed using China's Disrupted Classes Undisrupted Learning (DCUL) approach. As a nationally coordinated approach, this comprised of one TV channel and twenty-two provincial learning platforms and was it complemented by various online platforms and TV channels at the provincial, municipal and school levels.

Digital resources and tutoring were also made available via the National Network Cloud-Platform, and free textbooks and learning packages were posted to students without Internet access or a TV.

Special packages were also delivered to students with disability, migrants, those living in remote and rural areas and other vulnerable groups, with postage and courier costs paid by school public expenditure (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2021a).

Similar approaches were also taken in Japan during 2020 that blended traditional resources, for example, textbooks or paper materials, with TV programming, educational videos developed by the Board of Education, digital learning materials and interactive online coaching.

In Japan, between ninety-five to 100 per cent of primary, secondary and special needs schools used textbooks or paper materials during 2020, while thirty-one to fifty per cent relied on TV programming, thirty-four to seventy-five per cent on digital educational materials and eight to seventy per cent on interactive online coaching (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2021d).

In Indonesia, TV, radio and print materials were more likely to be accessed by students from rural areas and low socioeconomic brackets, as digital technology was cost prohibitive (Yarrow & Bhardwaj, 2020).

Digital technologies

Digital technology was crucial in many countries during the response and recovery phases of the pandemic. Digital technology was used to maintain teaching and learning continuity once schools closed. For example, in Samoa, evidence suggests that the use of the Moodle platform facilitated a 'flipped learning' approach, where students complete some components online allowing more class time for processing and collaboration (Queensland Department of Education, 2021).

Experience from Samoa suggests that the use of online platforms could help increase student retention, particularly for male students who found online lessons more motivating than face-to-face delivery (GPE, 2020b). Similarly, in Tonga, it was found students on the outer islands were more engaged with online resources (GPE, 2021).

Box 12. Collaboration between UNICEF and Microsoft led to the development of the Learning Passport e-learning platform that provides textbooks, storybooks, songs, videos and learning materials with built-in assessments. The Learning Passport has since been implemented in Timor-Leste, Lao PDR and Kiribati (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2022).

The use of digital technology requires governments to consider issues such as Internet infrastructure, content delivery, teachers' pedagogical capabilities and students' ability to navigate the online learning environment.

Over time, other issues were emphasized such as online teaching quality; students' experiences, exposure to risks, for example, isolation, depression, and anxiety; and supporting students undertake high stakes examinations (Humanitarian Advisory Group & VANGO, 2020; UNESCO & UNICEF, 2021a, 2021e).

Access to learning through digital technology varied across and within countries. In high-income countries, 96% reported using online platforms, compared to 16% in low-income countries (Global Education Evidence Advisory Panel, 2022).

Box 13. In the Philippines, low levels of access to digital technology, poor quality learning materials and limited availability of materials in local languages, has impacted the effectiveness of distance learning. To address these issues highlighted in the Philippines, Cho et al. (2021) propose strengthening learning pathways between teachers, learners and their parents.

They recommend education systems and schools support teachers to prioritize teaching above administrative duties and provide catch-up programmes, enhance the quality of paper-based modules and strengthen monitoring of student engagement and well-being.

Access to digital technologies and expertise were supported through partnerships between start-ups, private education groups and governments (Ejaz et al., 2022; UNESCO & UNICEF, 2021a). For example, China launched a cloud platform with the capacity to accommodate fifty million learners simultaneously (Bawane & Sharma, 2020). In India digital e-learning platforms, such as Diskha, Swayam, and e-pathshala were strengthened to allow free access to online resources (Bawane & Sharma, 2020).

Despite the large-scale roll out of technology-enabled learning modalities across most countries in the Asia-Pacific region, many teachers and students from low-income settings and disadvantaged backgrounds had limited digital literacy (Dabrowski et al., 2020).

However, nearly all teachers in the REDS survey believed that information and communication technology will be an important feature of teaching practice in the future (Sabine et al., 2022).

This suggests that teachers are open to innovative practices and the use of ICT in their teaching and targeted support for teachers may help prepare countries for future disruptions. Ideally, this would mean that all students and teachers will have greater access to and skills in using ICT through effective online curriculum content and digital pedagogy.

In Japan and the Republic of Korea, where there is pressure to perform well in high stakes examinations, students were often compelled to learn independently because of teachers struggling to shift to digital learning.

In the Republic of Korea, there was also acknowledgement of a missed opportunity to support the early learning sector with digital technologies for learning (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2021d, 2021e).

Access to technology is not sufficient to improve learning; the success of technology-based interventions requires a combination of customizing tools to suit context, policy support and adequate resourcing (Dabrowski et al., 2020).

Some tools can help build a connection and prevent disengagement in student learning by cultivating social capital and connectedness between teachers and students and students and their peers.

Computer-supported collaborative learning has been found to be consistent in improving student learning outcomes. Mechanisms such as peer assessment and feedback strategies, as well as teacher guidance in the use of computer platforms lead to more positive outcomes (Dabrowski et al. 2020). The combination of technological applications is also important.

For example, the use of video conferencing software combined with shared online workspaces such as Google Docs improved student learning, while video conferencing supported by email communication had no effect (Dabrowski et al., 2020).

The gap between high and low achieving students is likely to be affected by remote learning. Learners in China who performed best during offline learning also performed the best during online learning and younger learners experienced more online learning difficulties than older learners (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2021a).

Assessment

Assessment is used to measure students learning progress, thereby advancing learning recovery by informing how education systems, schools, teachers and students themselves can enhance student learning.

This subsection outlines the types of approaches taken by governments to assess and support learning recovery, including diagnostic, formative and summative assessment at the classroom, school and system levels.

Diagnostic assessments are particularly relevant to learning recovery. They can be used at the classroom level to identify students learning, based on agreed descriptions of what is important in learning domains. Diagnostic assessments inform teachers about how to target their practice to assist students to reach the next level of learning (GEM Centre, n.d.).

In the context of specific crises, like COVID-19, diagnostic assessments need to be modified or especially designed. For example, if the curriculum was narrowed during remote learning, then assessments need

to reflect what was taught and what students were expected to learn; this was recognised in the COVID-19 response plans of Laos and Timor (Tarricone, Mestan et al., 2021).

The interruptions to assessments caused by COVID-19 have catalysed assessment reform. Digital tools have been utilized to facilitate assessment and they are particularly relevant when teaching is being conducted with the assistance of digital technology, as in the two examples below:

- In the Republic of Korea, the government set up cyber learning services, like Wedorang and e-Hakseupteo. These platforms were designed to facilitate the teaching of online classes and allow teachers to post online assignments, conduct surveys, have open class discussions and track student learning progress (Bawane & Sharma, 2020).
- In Bhutan, social media applications, such as WeChat and WhatsApp, were utilized by teachers to assign children specific chapters to read and a set of questions to respond to. The answers to questions were sent back to teachers, either through messages or image clippings, based on which students were subsequently assessed.

Effective learning recovery will be student-focussed, where the learning progress of individual students is supported. To achieve this, diagnostic assessment needs to be combined with formative assessment. This involves providing specific feedback to students about their learning progress and guiding them in how they can improve.

Done well, formative assessments can improve student motivation and learning (Bawane & Sharma, 2020). Focusing on individual student learning provides an opportunity for each student to progress and therefore promote equitable learning outcomes.

Box 14. In Bhutan, audio-visual materials include formative assessments. In the Philippines, a combination of assessment methods have been applied, incorporating portfolios, performances and products. Proposed assessment reforms in India are becoming less exam-centric (Tarricone, Teo et al., 2021).

Assessments should also be used at the system level to track learning recovery, inform recovery strategies and support teaching. Large-scale learning assessments are important tools to monitor progress of student populations at the system level.

While national assessments focus on locally relevant education priorities and issues, international assessments enable the identification of strengths and weaknesses of education systems through providing international comparison. In coming years, it will become clearer which education systems have recovered better than others – providing opportunities for underperforming systems to gather learnings.

As general capabilities, such as critical thinking, communication and collaboration become recognized as important elements of 21st century education systems and thus a key component of learning recovery, their assessment will need to be integrated into education systems.

Ensuring that general capabilities are appropriately assessed requires long-term planning that embeds and aligns skills development frameworks into the curriculum, pedagogy and assessment. This will involve reviewing classroom activities across skills related to general capabilities (Scoular et al., 2020).

Supporting the whole school community

The significant role that families and communities play in educational outcomes is increasingly recognized. Evidence from six African counties in the Monitoring the Impact of Learning Outcomes (MILO) study indicates that students who reported that they received greater support from their parents performed better (ACER & UNESCO Institute for Statistics, 2022). In India, volunteers conducted learning camps to catch students up after school lockdowns (Pratham, 2022b).

Box 15. The Korean Government has identified that there is a need to engage students and parents so that teachers can effectively manage blended learning (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2021f).

Marginalized and disadvantaged students often have lower levels of support in the home when compared to students from more advantaged backgrounds. Parental education plays a key role in children's learning, where a strong correlation exists between children's cognitive skills and parental ability (Dabrowski et al., 2020).

Box 16. In Afghanistan, paper-based self-learning guides were developed and supplementary learning packs were delivered through Community-Based Education sites. Families reported to have become more engaged with their children's learning during this time (Dabrowski et al., 2022).

There is a risk that short-term dropouts from school could lead to permanent dropouts due to prolonged school closures. To re-engage and re-enrol learners in school, Cho et al. (2021) recommend actively reaching out to learners through promotions and campaigns. When children do not return to school, they suggest providing alternative learning options and pathways to completing equivalent primary and lower secondary education.

Lastly, to incentivize and support learners when they return to school, Cho et al. (2021) suggest providing remedial programmes. Many countries across the Asia-Pacific focused on engaging the most vulnerable to prevent school drop-out. Lao implemented a back-to-school campaign that included surveys to gauge community feelings and inform planning (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2021e).

Various strategies to ensure student attendance have successfully included information campaigns targeting parents and other social protection measures such as school meals. Additionally, financial and other incentives can be provided to families to keep them engaged in the education system, especially in regard to low-income households.

Box 17. For example, in Bangladesh, the Ministry of Education provided financial and non-financial incentives to target students at risk of not returning to school, through cash transfer programmes, counselling support and engaging with parents and the community in back-to-school campaigns.

National and local governments

Government planning and financing were crucial for supporting families and communities over the course of the pandemic. In developed economies this included addressing issues involving the shift to distance learning, supporting teacher capacity, providing resources and supplementary learning materials for students, relaxing qualification requirements for teachers, placing more teaching staff in schools, ensuring safe learning environments and adapting the curriculum and assessment (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2021a, 2021c).

Intergovernmental organizations and NGOs

Organizations, such as UNICEF, UNESCO, the World Bank and the Asian Development Bank, provided expertise on how to manage the impact of COVID-19. They also provided case studies and analysis of various countries, for example, China, Japan and the Republic of Korea, to support national efforts to 'build back better' and to provide other countries with lessons learned for developing education system resilience (Humanitarian Advisory Group & VANGO, 2020; UNESCO & UNICEF, 2021a, 2021c, 2021e).

School leaders

School leaders work alongside government and non-government stakeholders to support education by informing response and recovery activities (UNICEF, 2020a), implement curriculum adaptations (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2021a), engage family members to improve the transition to blended learning (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2021e) and develop effective classroom and distance learning pedagogies (Patrinos & Bustillo, 2022).

Teachers

Support for teachers is an important feature in addressing learning loss and generally facilitating student learning success and wellbeing. Providing teachers with simple and structured pedagogy can be cost-effective to enhancing literacy and numeracy.

When accountability feedback and monitoring mechanisms are integrated into the pedagogy, it has been found to be successful for scaling at the national level.

It is important to build teacher's capacity in assessing student's learning progress so that they can make accurate judgements of learning progress, including developing teaching and learning strategies that can be used with students in a range of different contexts.

This is not least because in most education systems in low- and middle-income countries, everyday student learning is monitored by teachers (UNESCO, UNICEF & the World Bank, 2020). Supporting

teachers in their assessment practice will enable them to address learning loss and support student learning (UNICEF, 2020b). However, general skills training programmes have not been particularly effective (Global Education Evidence Advisory Panel, 2022).

Conversely, specific training to address learning loss can include upskilling teachers to support the psychosocial needs of students, implement inclusive pedagogies that support diverse learning needs and integrate digital tools into their teaching (Alasuutari, 2020; Patrinos & Bustillo, 2022).

A number of strategies to support teachers have been developed across China, Japan and the Republic of Korea, including:

- The establishment of pre-teacher training in distance learning to address educational disparities.
- Training to link technology with new pedagogies, the curriculum and formative assessments.
- Training to deliver distance learning. For example, the Republic of Korea's Comprehensive Support
 Portal for School Records that includes teaching training videos that explains guidelines and
 operation examples of distance learning. Similarly, the Ministerial and Provincial Model Courses in
 China provide high-quality teacher resources to support the delivery of the Disrupted Classes,
 Undisrupted Learning programme approach to support learning continuity
- Moving away from teacher-centric learning approaches to more student-centric, interactive approaches includes an ability to respond to students' psychosocial and emotional needs (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2021a, 2021d, 2021e).

Box 18. In the Republic of Korea, an online community of 10,000 teachers, across almost every school, support each other by sharing best practices through real-time and interactive communications. This initiative has been so successful that the Ministry of Education plans to support a group of education innovators to drive research and development in technology-enabled education responses into the future (OECD, 2020).

Local communities

Community mobilization varied across countries. Community engagement is central to the ASER model of citizen-led assessments across all countries it operates in: Bangladesh, India, Nepal and Pakistan. In this model, citizens conduct surveys and are mobilized in the dissemination of results and decision-making (Bhattacharjea et al., 2021).

In China, four million community workers were positioned across 650,000 urban and rural areas to monitor the pandemic and community safety. Community workers and volunteers also prepared for the safe reopening of schools by supporting initiatives aimed at mitigating infection, securing safe environments and being on the alert to curb the spread of COVID-19 (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2021a).

In Vanuatu, restrictions imposed on international organizations and governments providing humanitarian aid resulted in greater community involvement during the combined crises of the pandemic and Tropical Cyclone Harold.

Communities became more connected and engaged to respond to these crises and they were mobilized to provide technical support and skilled personnel, for example, traditional weavers trained affected communities to rebuild their houses. They were also more involved in discussions with decision-makers and in decision-making processes (Humanitarian Advisory Group & VANGO, 2020).

Parents

Supporting parents is central to learning recovery; this requires understanding the challenges and needs of parents. Parents needed to juggle multiple demands during the pandemic. Parents found it difficult to create positive home learning environments, lacked knowledge and skills to academically and psychologically support their children, were not always able to monitor children's learning and experienced stresses relating to emerging financial strains (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2021a). For parents of low socioeconomic households or with a child that has special needs, these demands were multiplied.

In some countries, the pressure on parents was eased by drawing on broader community support. For example, in China, parents and grandparents in urban areas often collaborated to support a child's education.

However, where this familial support cannot be relied on, it is essential for learning recovery that the broader community, including the school and state, provide the support and resources parents need.

This includes structured guides for parents on how to facilitate their children's blended learning, and regular communication with teachers who can provide advice and feedback (Alasuutari, 2020).

Box 19. Support for parents in China came in the form of the Home-school Collaboration Platform which provided guidance on parental support, information about ensuring the physical and psychological wellbeing of students and how schools and parents can cooperate to improve learning (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2021a).

Children

There were common themes relating to supporting children's learning recovery as highlighted in China, Japan and the Republic of Korea including:

- Providing access to online learning to the vulnerable.
- Meeting the learning needs of young children through distance learning; possible solutions include interactive activities, supportive material for parents and regular video/audio meetings to enable the monitoring of children and their status.
- Supporting children's independent and online learning.

 Managing children's online behaviour, for example, reducing the risk of myopia and cyberbullying (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2021a, 2021d, 2021e).

Other considerations for building medium- to long-term learning recovery

The process of supporting medium- to long-term learning recovery is reliant on all stakeholders successfully integrating and implementing relevant policies at different levels, such as within government departments, schools and in the classroom.

These policies should be backed by evidence that support learning recovery and include strong political commitments and institutional structures, including capacity and resourcing, to help ensure the best chance of success.

Other considerations for building medium- to long-term learning recovery include the following six practices that span the integration and implementation of evidenced-based learning recovery policies.

First, good **communication** is needed to successfully convey a clear vision, values, purposes and goals for learning recovery. These should be shared by schools and communities and promoted at all system levels (ACER, 2017).

The types of platforms that might be used to facilitate good communication includes social media; mobile phone text messaging applications; Internet, TV and radio broadcasting, including for children with disabilities; print materials; and telephones (Pratham, 2022b; Tarricone, Mestan et al., 2021; Tarricone, Teo et al., 2021).

Second, **coordination and collaboration** are needed to ensure, for example, that actors (agents) and organizations can learn from each other, make use of professional learning communities, monitor performance and are focused on student outcomes.

Coordination involves both centralized and de-centralized approaches, with the former being characterized by a command and control headquarters approach that coordinates provincial and local governments and schools (Tarricone, Mestan et al., 2021), while the latter emphasises greater local and community agency and autonomy (Butcher et al., 2021).

Both centralized and de-centralized coordination should be implemented in a fit-for-purpose manner to support learning recovery and build on existing national and community structures (Keen et al., 2021); though some evidence suggests that centralized coordination is needed during the earlier stages of an emergency to better coordinate and mobilize resources and funding (Dabrowski et al., 2022).

Collaboration involves the development of partnerships that typically occur between the public and private sectors. This could include partnerships that support greater access to online learning opportunities and providing subsidized or zero-cost connectivity for access to learning materials (GPE, 2020b), as well as working to ensure that education is at the forefront of all recovery activities as result of complex emergencies, for example, the impact of natural disasters and COVID-19 (UNICEF, 2020a).

A third consideration, **planning**, is needed across and within national governments to support learning recovery and address the learning crisis. As seen across many Asia-Pacific countries, these plans have been developed to support educational recovery and include implementation plans, institutional and business continuity plans, operations plans and disaster response plans.

Plans developed in response to crises, such as COVID-19 Education Response Plans (CERP), need to be consistent with broader strategic plans, for example, education sector plans and these need to articulate how strategic goals can be achieved in the medium- to long-term; see for example, Cambodia's effort to enhance education inclusivity and equity (UNICEF, 2020c). Fourth, increased **financing** and fiscal management is required across all Asia-Pacific countries to support learning and education system recovery.

Low- and middle-income countries faced significant challenges and gaps during the pandemic and are expected to increase education spending from four per cent to six per cent of GDP and fifteen per cent to twenty per cent of total public expenditure, to achieve SDG4 (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2022).

This is despite foreign aid that they are likely to receive. For example, the World Bank provided US\$5.2 billion for education programmes, with an additional US\$2.3 billion provided during the pandemic for operational restructuring and education projects that focused on learner preparation, effective teachers, learning environments and school management (Saavedra, 2020).

A fifth consideration focuses on the importance of **school infrastructure**. Specifically, the implementation of appropriate school infrastructure is essential for when schools reopen and helping to ensure that they stay open.

This includes digital devices and infrastructure for internet ready devices, and facilities and protocols that promote health and safety, for example, Water, Sanitation and Hygiene (WASH) facilities and protocols (Tarricone, Mestan, et al., 2021).

Finally, **data collection and monitoring** – particularly of many of the SDG4 indicators – should be considered as these practices are not usually comprehensive in many Asia-Pacific countries or may be sporadic over a number of years.

Data relating to systematic and comparable skills and learning outcomes across different life stages (i.e., Indicators 4.1.1., 4.2.1., 4.4.1., and 4.6.1.) have the least amount of data collected. Available data that might be used for education recovery is also not easily disaggregated, for example, by gender or location and data relating to inclusive education. For example, disability, ethnicity and socioeconomic status are generally lacking.

More positively, minimum benchmark values for a set of SDG4 indicators have been agreed upon for subregions in Asia and the Pacific (UNESCO & UNICEF, 2022).

III. Opportunities for learning recovery

Evidence from the COVID-19 pandemic has highlighted existing challenges facing education systems globally. However, this also provides a historic opportunity for governments in the Asia-Pacific to rethink strategies for learning recovery that support equitable access and quality learning for all children.

The previous sections discuss how education systems have responded and adapted to the COVID-19 context to preserve and accelerate learning when schools reopen. These lessons and insights provide an opportunity to catalyse promising policies and practices that can help shape learning beyond prepandemic levels.

Digital learning and mobile technologies

Pre-pandemic, there was limited evidence of success in large-scale remote learning using technology. Despite this finding, many education systems in the Asia-Pacific moved quickly to establish various high and low-tech delivery mechanisms during the pandemic.

Many countries provided free or subsidized data and devices to support remote learning (Butcher et al., 2021; Tarricone et al., 2021).

The challenge faced by many low- and middle-income countries was limited access to the Internet which was difficult to expand quickly to reach vast portions of the student population during school closures. Some countries chose to provide devices or off-the-shelf software, which on their own proved to have little impact on learning.

However, as discussed above, technology innovations that are underpinned by infrastructure, capacity building and good learning design, coupled with opportunities for engagement between teachers and students and students and their peers can be effective in supporting learning.

It was noted that the potential for mobile-assisted learning was not fully realized by governments during the pandemic. Despite eighty per cent mobile coverage and use in many low- and middle-income countries, only seventeen per cent of low-income countries reported using this technology as a remote learning intervention (Global Education Evidence Advisory Panel, 2022).

During the pandemic, examples of successful mobile phone use in facilitating learning were reported to be a cost-effective intervention in facilitating student learning. For example, text messages and targeted phone calls by teachers to students and parents resulted in better student engagement and accountability for learning (Global Education Evidence Advisory Panel, 2022).

It is suggested that there is scope for further testing and adoption of phone-based programming due to its cost-effectiveness and broad reach in low and middle-income countries, which promotes greater equity and access in education to marginalized students.

Pandemic-induced remote learning has also created a catalyst for the broad expansion of digital learning in many countries. For example, in Samoa, digital transformation has now been prioritized by the

government to be fast-tracked for all sectors, which has seen the goals and targets for digitalisation of the education sector immediately implemented (Queensland Department of Education, 2021).

The following key challenges and opportunities for education systems in Asia-Pacific countries are:

Access to electricity and technology – ongoing investment in widespread electricity and power infrastructure in low-income countries, rural and remote areas. Access to electricity will enable communities to access technologies such as television, radio and the Internet.

Digital learning and mobile technology – ongoing investment and widespread implementation of largescale remote learning technologies, infrastructure, including teacher, student and community preparedness.

Data-driven policies

Understanding the extent of potential learning and earning losses from education disruptions requires a systematic assessment and monitoring of student learning.

A robust education monitoring system can provide policymakers with data to inform decision-making. In the recovery phase, a data-driven response that incorporates data from health authorities and other government agencies can help ensure the safe reopening of schools while also prioritizing the return for vulnerable students through social protection measures.

As discussed earlier, disaggregated data on gender, disability and other socio-economic factors can help decision-makers better understand and design appropriate education responses that meet the needs of vulnerable groups.

Determining the extent of learning loss and learning progress is an important process when schools identify mitigation measures for remediation, catch up and differentiation. Effective formative assessments can help to identify potential gaps in literacy, numeracy and socioemotional skills as an ongoing and interactive process to devise a pathway for continuous learning.

During the pandemic, eighty per cent of schools in India which participated in the REDS (UNESCO, 2022) survey reported a shift from using summative to formative assessments. There is an opportunity to adopt formative assessments more widely by training and supporting teachers with its implementation.

At the same time, it is also important to measure system level learning losses through large-scale national assessments. Identifying student learning proficiencies in reading, writing and mathematics can help countries report overall student performance across contexts and over time.

This will enable the development of more targeted teaching and learning strategies to help governments plan a national response in the recovery phase. Furthermore, by aligning national assessments with the SDG minimum proficiency levels, governments are able report against SDG indicators in reading and mathematics (SDG 4.1.1).

The following key challenges and opportunities for education systems in Asia-Pacific countries are:

Coordination of data across sectors – disaggregated data to inform decision-making to support safe school reopening and prioritizing access for vulnerable students.

Formative assessments – identifying learning loss, remediation and differentiation of student learning pathways to accelerate learning.

Systemic assessment and monitoring of learning – determining the extent of learning progress and potential learning losses to support national interventions for learning recovery.

Parental engagement

Some examples of parent-teacher collaboration, through regular communication, have been reported. This includes successful student engagement in learning during the pandemic. In many cases, information dissemination has been the primary aim rather than teaching.

However, it is recognized that parental buy-in is important to ensure accountability and engagement in student learning. In Indonesia, when the emergency curriculum was introduced, modules for parents were created which covered practical tips, examples of schedules and activities to help parents assist and monitor their children's learning (Dabrowski et al., 2022).

Close engagement with parents through regular and targeted communication ensured parental buy-in to encourage better student engagement.

The following key challenges and opportunities for education systems in Asia-Pacific countries are:

Engaging Parents and Community – ensuring accountability and engagement in student learning and wellbeing.

Financing

When the COVID-19 pandemic hit, there were concerns that education budgets would contract as governments across the region prioritized health and economic sectors. However, one third of countries reported increasing their education budgets during 2021 – creating an unprecedented opportunity to rebuild and reform a more equitable education system (Global Education Evidence Advisory Panel, 2022).

Any increase in education expenditure should be sustained beyond the recovery phase to ensure resources are used effectively to address any learning gaps and improve learning outcomes for all children, prioritizing strategies to support the most marginalized and disadvantaged.

Other key opportunities for enhancing learning recovery include:

The following key challenges and opportunities for education systems in Asia-Pacific countries are:

Education inequality – addressing the diverse needs of the student population.

Mental health and wellbeing – providing accessible and wide-spread school mental health and wellbeing, including nutrition, programmes for students, teachers and school leaders.

Teacher quality standards – high quality and consistent initial teacher education programmes that prepare teachers who are adaptive and prepared for education disruptions.

Teacher and school leader professional development – accessible and well-funded opportunities to build capabilities in curriculum adaption, new pedagogies, assessment practices, digital literacy and school management practices.

Quality teaching and learning materials – investment in the development of high-quality teaching and learning tools, resources and materials that are accessible to the most vulnerable children and in local languages.

IV. Policy recommendations

Drawing on findings from the above discussion, this section provides Asia-Pacific education ministers with short- and long-term policy recommendations to support their respective education systems.

Initial actions for learning recovery: Curriculum, assessment and pedagogy

Safety and hygiene

Education funding should prioritize implementing hygiene standards. Regular school cleaning and providing infrastructure, for example, WASH facilities are necessary for managing the spread of COVID-19 and other health and hygiene concerns as schools reopen.

This policy pointer is particularly important at the school level, to reduce school closure and retain students in school.

Both school leaders and the community play a pivotal role in ensuring the safe reopening of schools. School leaders can harness community support through effective engagement to ensure that schools remain safe for students and teachers. This can be achieved by engaging with community leaders to communicate broadly and support the learning recovery initiatives, particularly regarding health and safety protocols with families.

Access to education and reaching the most vulnerable students⁶

Education systems and schools need to prioritize the return and re-engagement of all students, particularly young children, girls and the most vulnerable. To reduce social-economic barriers to school attendance at the system level, an effective approach is to provide cash transfers, scholarships and other financial support to students and families.

Education investments should emphasize back-to-school campaigns, for example, phone calls, home visits and community engagement events. These approaches should be used by schools to reach vulnerable students, better understand their individual situations and identify barriers to accessing education.

Education systems can also support schools to improve student attendance by reintroducing social protection measures such as school meal programmes. This policy pointer is particularly important at the system level and school and student levels.

School assessments and remediation⁷

Upon schools reopening, a diagnostic assessment can be used by teachers to determine students' current learning levels relative to their expected learning progress, thereby informing remedial responses.

⁶ This policy pointer is associated with the RAPID Learning Recovery Framework: REACH every child and retain them in school.

⁷ This policy pointer is associated with the RAPID Learning Recovery Framework: ASSESS learning levels.

Examples of remediation implemented by schools include extended instruction time, catch-up programmes, small group tutoring, accelerated learning programmes and summer schools.

Furthermore, formative assessments should be adopted or enhanced during classes to provide student feedback and inform adjustments to teaching. Assessments should be contextually appropriate and domain-relevant and by targeting students' learning levels, teachers can monitor the learning progress of individual students. This policy pointer is particularly important at the student and school levels.

Adapting the curriculum⁸ to focus on learning recovery programmes to address student learning needs⁹

Upon schools reopening, systems and schools should consider how the curriculum may need to be narrowed and adapted to prioritize foundation level content to support individual student learning needs, especially for the early years and the vulnerable.

Curriculum adaption might involve consolidating curriculum to target learning levels and include content about social emotional learning to support the development of student wellbeing, safety and resilience. This policy pointer is particularly important at the system and school levels.

At a longer-term system level, there needs to be a fundamental curricula review to ensure that key knowledge and skills are taught and assessed to ensure that they provide a basis for lifelong learning, including technical and entrepreneurial skills and general capabilities. Achievement standards need to be developed to define what students should learn and at what level.

Wellbeing of students¹⁰

The wellbeing of students and teachers should be secured through comprehensive programmes that address health, nutrition, physical safety and psychosocial needs. As digital technology is increasingly used for education and other purposes, consideration needs to be given to addressing cyberbullying and harmful online content and practices.

This might mean limiting some of the functions of learning platforms and providing access to support services, such as helplines (UNESCO, 2022; UNESCO & UNICEF, 2021). This policy pointer is particularly important at the student and school levels.

Teacher support

Although ongoing support of teachers is necessary for any effective education system, initial action can be taken to enable learning recovery. Teachers' own psychosocial well-being needs to be supported, this

⁸ This policy pointer is associated with the RAPID Learning Recovery Framework: *PRIORITIZE teaching the fundamentals*. ⁹ This policy pointer is associated with the RAPID Learning Recovery Framework: *INCREASE catch-up learning and progress beyond what was lost*.

¹⁰ This policy pointer is associated with the RAPID Learning Recovery Framework: *DEVELOP psychosocial health and well-being so every child is ready to learn.*

includes providing them with resilience training and counselling services. Establishing or supporting communities of practice, which enables peer support, can also help teachers cope with stress.

Teachers also need access to technology and other teaching resources, which may also involve training on how to make use of technical and learning assets.

Teachers can be provided with diagnostics tools to identify student learning progress and be guided about how to prioritize and target teaching to recover and accelerate learning. Lastly, teachers' workload might be able to be reduced by making use of volunteers, retired teachers, educated youth, or other community members to support them in managing catch-up learning activities.

Medium- to-long-term actions for addressing the learning crisis Curriculum and pedagogical reform

In the medium- to-long-term, curriculum and pedagogical reform will be needed to address the learning crisis. This can begin with reviewing teaching practices and the curriculum to identify how they can be made more learner-centred and focused on integrating 21st century competencies.

Teachers also need guidance how they can adjust their practices in line with evidence about effective approaches. For example, differentiated teaching, where teachers adjust their practice based on each learner's progress, is a practice that some teachers trialled shortly after the pandemic and this can be continued going forward. This requires established achievement standards so student progress can be monitored.

Teacher professional development and support

Education systems and schools need to foster teacher development through the provision of opportunities to enhance pedagogical knowledge and practice. This includes the provision of pre- and inservice teacher professional development to enhance teachers' ability to engage in flexible teaching approaches, including digital skills, social-emotional learning, differentiated teaching and formative assessments (UNESCO, 2022; USAID, 2020).

Teachers need more support to develop adaptive teaching knowledge and skills, including the use of blended learning pedagogies. To reduce teacher workload, additional resources, and tools, such as online learning hubs and lesson preparation videos could be provided. This policy pointer is particularly important at the system and school levels.

Digital transformation to support flexible learning strategies

Education systems need to support schools to develop flexible learning pathways and practices. This especially relates to blended learning resources, such as digital platforms, protocols, resources and support for online teaching and learning.

With the appropriate development of curriculum, pedagogy and assessments tailored for blended learning, it need not be a temporary solution during emergencies, but can continue to support learning progress in the long-term.

To advance digital inclusivity, school technology and connectivity implementation plans should be consistent with aspirational teaching and learning modalities, ensuring all students have sufficient access. To close the digital divide, plans should prioritize infrastructure and connectivity, especially in rural areas, funding for devices and financial aid for vulnerable students and their families.

Furthermore, in most Asia-Pacific countries, greater investments are required to develop online learning content for students at different stages of learning. This policy pointer is particularly important at the system level.

School governance and accountability

With teach quality being central to effective learning, school governance and accountability measures need to focus on this. This includes developing schools plans that prioritize teacher improvement and organising regular school self-assessments to monitor the quality of teaching and learning in school. School leaders need to be trained and prepared to be instructional leaders.

Furthermore, education systems can be strengthened by implementing school improvement and accountability measures that integrate qualitative and quantitative approaches, based on school inspections that review and rate school processes according to criteria.

For example, student engagement can be monitored according to whether defined engagement programmes are properly implemented, as well as with identifying the rates of student attendance. This policy pointer is particularly important at the system and school levels.

Community engagement

Children's learning is enhanced if they are supported by the community, not just their classroom teachers. Schools need to actively engage with the community to enable households and community organizations to support student education, such as with resources, encouragement and assistance.

To achieve this, school leaders need to regularly communicate with families and community groups. This can lead to co-developed school and community-based programmes that build greater community awareness of, and support for students' health and wellbeing, both in and out of school.

Communities should be encouraged to be involved in recovery efforts by partnering with schools to aid in the provision of learning environments that support students and teachers, including health, wellbeing, financial support and communication against gender-based violence. This policy pointer is particularly important at the school level.

Monitoring learning outcomes

Governments need to invest in robust education monitoring systems, including monitoring student progress and student disengagement, to support learning for all. Large-scale assessments, national or regional programmes, can be used to provide systematic and periodic data to monitor the efficacy of the education system overall.

To inform education system reform, such large-scale assessments should focus on monitoring the learning progress of overall student cohorts, while also being capable of analysis by sub-groups, such as region, gender, or socio-economic status.

To support the achievement of SDG4, data specifically related to the associated minimum proficiency level indicators need to be collected. In many Asia-Pacific countries, data for many of the SDG4 indicators is either not collected or collected infrequently.

Data relating to systematic and comparable skills and learning outcomes across different life stages, for example, Indicators 4.1.1., 4.2.1., 4.4.1., and 4.6.1., have the least amount of data collected and this is not easily disaggregated, for example by gender or location.

Furthermore, education monitoring should collect data, for example, assessment, enrolment, attrition and ongoing attendance data to inform retention programmes and teaching initiatives.

At the classroom level, the reopening of schools will require school leaders and teachers to be re-trained to develop and implement context specific diagnostic and formative assessments to measure and monitor ongoing student learning and competencies.

Data derived from these assessments should subsequently be used by teachers to inform the types of learning recovery pedagogies, plans and interventions on students.

Specifically and as specified under the RAPID approach, the process of assessing learning levels when schools reopen will involve having a clear understanding of students' current learning levels, for example, baseline, to direct and accelerate the learning recovery process.

Where possible, data for monitoring learning loss should be gathered regularly, in a timely manner, and be inclusive; identify how much was lost and what content was lost; include diagnostic, formative and summative assessment components; enable disaggregation by sub-groups of students; and allow classroom instruction to be targeted (UNESCO et al., 2022).

Key priority	System level	School and student level
Immediate actions f	or learning recovery	
Safety and hygiene in schools	Set-up school health and safety standards adapted to the COVID crisis. Allocate adequate funding to help schools meet health and safety standards.	School policies and planning should prioritize health and safety. Schools should engage students, youths, parents and the local community and communicate information school safety and health measures.
Access to education and reaching the most vulnerable students	Set-up back to school campaigns. Monitor and track re-enrolment and attendance, especially for the most vulnerable students, children with disabilities, children in remote or hard-to- reach places, ethnic minorities and other marginalized groups. Roll out early warning systems to identify at-risk students and prevent drop-out.	Reintroduce social protection measures such as school meal programmes. Cash transfers, scholarships and other incentives should be used to encourage re-enrolment.
School assessments and remediation	Provide schools with adequate assessment tools and guidance to identify individual learning needs. Train teachers on assessing students' learning levels, differentiated and remediation strategies.	Use a diagnostic assessment to identify students' levels, competences and learning needs. Implement adequate remediation strategies based on individual learners' needs. Use a formative assessment of students throughout the year and use information to inform teaching and learning.
Adapting the curriculum to focus on learning recovery programmes to address students' learning needs Well-being of	Indicate priority learning content for the recovery phase. Review the school year and/or length of instruction time to allow more time for catching up.	Prioritize core competencies in learning recovery programmes. Prioritize foundational learning and prerequisites for future learning, including literacy, numeracy and socioemotional skills.
students	available throughout different sectors. In countries where poverty has increased and stunting prevalence is high, establish or expand school meals.	referral mechanisms in schools for counselling and psycho-social services. Prioritize students' and teachers' well-being in school plans.

Table 1: Recommendations to facilitate learning recovery

Key priority	System level	School and student level
	Provide guidance to schools on how to	Prioritize communication,
	develop students' socio-emotional skills.	including community messaging
	Build the capacity of the teaching	about COVID-19 and mental
	workforce to deliver support to students,	health.
	while addressing teachers' own mental	
	health and wellbeing.	
	Set regulation and enforcement	
	mechanisms to address cyberbullying and	
	harmful online content and practices.	
Teachers' support	Support teachers' resilience, instruction	Set up adequate counselling and
	skills and technological awareness.	psycho-social services for teachers.
	Support teachers with psycho-social	Explore possibilities of using
	support and training, provide them with	volunteers, retired teachers,
	diagnostics tools, methods to prioritize	educated youths and community
	teaching and learning of core	members to support teachers in
	fundamentals, plus strategies to recover	managing catch-up learning
	and accelerate learning.	activities.
	Support teachers' access to education	
	technology and their capacity to use it.	
	Set-up professional learning communities,	
	for example, peer-to-peer groups.	
Medium- t	o long-term transformations of education to	address the learning crisis
Curriculum and	Introduce transferable and 21 st century	Review teaching and learning
pedagogical	competencies in curriculum and learning	practices to ensure that they are
reform	standards.	learner-centred and integrate 21 st
	Provide guidance on how to transform	century competencies.
	pedagogical approaches in schools.	
	Set achievement standards to monitor	
	learners' progress vis-à-vis learning	
	standards.	
Teachers'	Provide quality pre- and in-service	Support teachers' professional
professional	professional development to enhance	development by setting up in-
development and	teachers' ability to use flexible teaching	school peer learning and
support	approaches, including digital skills, social-	encouraging participation in
	emotional learning, differentiated	professional learning networks.
	teaching and formative assessments.	
	Provide adequate guidance, tools and	
	examples to teachers to transform their	
	teaching and learning practices, such as	
	online repository and learning hubs.	

Key priority	System level	School and student level
Digital	Develop curriculum content, pedagogical	Provide access to digital tools and
transformation to	materials and tools adapted for blended	connectivity for all – especially
support flexible	and distance learning.	rural areas and vulnerable
learning	Ensure that online learning solutions are	learners.
strategies	fully inclusive, equitable and remain free	
	for all students so that digital divides are	
	not widened further. Complement with	
	adequate offline solutions for those	
	without access.	
	Regulate online learning platforms and	
	engagement with private EdTech	
	providers and enforce regulations to	
	protect learners from the	
	commercialization of education.	
School	Prioritize quality of teaching and learning	Prioritize improvement of teaching
governance and	in school standards and keep schools and	and learning in school planning.
accountability	relevant local authorities accountable for	Organize regular school self-
	the quality of learning.	assessments to monitor quality of
	Train and prepare school leaders to be	teaching and learning in schools.
	instructional leaders.	
Community		Engage parents and the local
engagement		community in student learning.
Monitoring	Develop large scale assessment tools to	Build in-school capacity to use data
learning	monitor students' learning outcomes over	on learning outcomes to inform on
outcomes	time.	school improvements.
	Develop capacity to analyse and utilize	
	learning assessment data to inform	
	policies.	

V. References

Adam, M. and Gochyyev, P. (n.d.). *Learning continuity amidst COVID-19 school closures in Maldives*. UNICEF, ADB.

Alasuutari, H. 2020, April 20. *Tackling inequity in education during and after COVID-19*. World Bank Blogs. Access: <u>https://blogs.worldbank.org/education/tackling-inequity-education-during-and-after-</u> covid-19

Amin, S. Hossain, M. Ainul, S. 2021. *Learning Loss Among Adolescent Girls During the COVID-19 Pandemic in Rural Bangladesh.* Population Council. Access: https://www.popcouncil.org/uploads/pdfs/2021SBSR_LearningLossBangladesh.pdf

Australian Council for Educational Research (ACER). 2017. Education System Improvement Tool. Manuscript in preparation.

Australian Council for Educational Research (ACER) and UNESCO Institute for Statistics. 2022. *COVID-19 in Sub-Saharan Africa: Monitoring Impacts on Learning Outcomes: Main Report*. UNESCO Institute for Statistics. Access: <u>https://research.acer.edu.au/monitoring_learning/54</u>

Australian Council for Educational Research (ACER). (2022). *Minimum Proficiency Levels Unpacked*, ACER Global Education Monitoring Centre.

Australian Council for Educational Research (ACER). (2019). *Pacific Islands Literacy & Numeracy Assessment 2018: Regional Report*.

Bawane, J. and Sharma, R.. 2020. *Formative Assessments and the Continuity of Learning During Emergencies and Crises: NEQMAP 2020 thematic review*. UNESCO. Access: https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000375239

Bhattacharjea, S. Saeed, S. Timalsina, R. and Ahamed, S. 2021. *Citizen-led Assessments: A Model for Evidence-based Advocacy and Action to Improve Learning.* Australian Council for Educational Research. Access: <u>https://doi.org/10.37517/978-1-74286-636-9</u>

Butcher, N. Khairina, N.N. Kumala, C. and Loots, S. 2021. *The struggle against COVID-19 in Indonesian Education: Responses, requirements, and policy needs for learning recovery*. The World Bank. Access: https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/36323

Cassity, E. Chainey, J. Cheng, J. and Wong, D. (in press). *Education Analytics Services Teacher Development Multi-Year Series: Vanuatu Interim Report 2*.

Cho, Y. Kataoka, S. and Piza, S. 2021. *Philippine Basic Education System: Strengthening Effective Learning During the COVID-19 Pandemic and beyond*. The World Bank. Access: <u>https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/35649</u>

Dabrowski, A. Nietschke, Y. Ahmed and K. Berry, A. 2022. *COVID-19 Mapping Study in the Asia Region*. Manuscript in preparation.

Dabrowski, A. Nietschke, Y.Taylor-Guy, P. and Chase, A. 2020. *Mitigating the Impacts of COVID-19: Lessons from Australia in Remote Education*. Australian Council for Educational Research (ACER). Access: <u>https://research.acer.edu.au/learning_processes/32/</u>

Durnnian, T. 2020. Access to Learning in India: Findings from 2020 Rapid Assessment Study in six States: Assam, Bihar, Gujarat, Kerala, Madhya Pradesh and Uttar Pradesh. UNICEF, India.

Echazarra, A. and Radinger, T. 2019. *Learning in Rural Schools: Insights from PISA, TALIS and the Literature. OECD*. Access:

https://www.oecd.org/officialdocuments/publicdisplaydocumentpdf/?cote=EDU/WKP(2019)4&docLan guage=En

Ejaz, N. Kaliq, N. R. and Bajwa, Y. January 2022. COVID-19 Spurs Big Changes in Pakistan's Education. World Bank Blogs. Access: <u>https://blogs.worldbank.org/endpovertyinsouthasia/covid-19-spurs-big-changes-pakistans-education</u>

Fukami, T. May 2021. *Sri Lanka: Country Case Study on Systematic Approaches to Remediation and System Adaptation to Address Potential Learning Loss* [PowerPoint Presentation]. UNICEF, Sri Lanka.

GEM Centre. (n.d.). *Pathways to impact*. Access: <u>https://www.acer.org/files/GEM-Centre-Pathways-to-impact.pdf</u>

Global Education Evidence Advisory Panel. 2022. *Prioritizing Learning During COVID-19: The Most Effective Ways to Keep Children Learning During and Post-Pandemic*. The World Bank, FCDO and UNICEF Office of Research – Innocenti.

Gouëdard, P. Pont, B. and Viennet, R. 2020. *Education Responses to COVID-19: Implementing a Way Forward*. OECD Education Working Papers No. 224. OECD Publishing. Access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/8e95f977-en</u>

GPE. 2020a. Application to Global Partnership for Education COVID-19 Accelerated Funding Window for Emergency Response in Papua New Guinea [Grant Application]. Access: <u>https://www.globalpartnership.org/content/covid-19-accelerated-funding-request-papua-new-guinea-</u> <u>may-2020</u>

GPE. 2020b. Application to Global Partnership for Education COVID-19 Accelerated Funding Window for Emergency Response in Samoa [Grant Application]. Access: https://www.globalpartnership.org/content/application-and-program-document-covid-19-accelerated-

funding-samoa-2020

GPE. 2021. *Tonga: Building a resilient education system to mitigate the impact of COVID-19 and natural disasters.* GPE Secretariat Blog. Access: <u>https://www.globalpartnership.org/blog/tonga-building-resilient-education-system-mitigate-impact-covid-19-and-natural-disasters</u>

Humanitarian Advisory Group and VANGO. 2020. *No Turning Back: Local Leadership in Vanuatu's Response to Tropical Cyclone Harold* (Humanitarian Horizons Practice Paper Series). Access: https://humanitarianadvisorygroup.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/TC-Harold-Practice-Paper_final-electronic.pdf

Kanda, C. February 2022. *Mitigating COVID-19's impacts on Child Development Outcomes in Sri Lanka*. World Bank Blogs. Access: <u>https://blogs.worldbank.org/endpovertyinsouthasia/mitigating-covid-19s-impacts-child-development-outcomes-sri-lanka</u>

Keen, M. Anderson, D. Osborne, K. Deo, R. Faith, J. and Ride, A. 2021. *Putting People First: Area Based Approaches for Better Disaster Recovery in The Pacific, Fiji, Vanuatu and Solomon Islands Regional Synthesis*. Australia Pacific Security College, Australian National University.

Li, Z. (n.d.). *Access, Utilization and Perceived Effectiveness of Distance Learning in Bangladesh* [PowerPoint Presentation]. Asian Development Bank (ADB).

OECD. 2020. Lessons for Education from COVID-19: A Policy Maker's Handbook for More Resilient Systems. OECD Publishing. Access: https://doi.org/10.1787/0a530888-en

Patrinos, H. A. and Bustillo, E. V. January 2022. *Lessons for the Education Sector from the COVID-19 Pandemic*. World Bank Blogs. Access: <u>https://blogs.worldbank.org/education/lessons-education-sector-covid-19-pandemic</u>

Pratham. 2020. *Karnataka Rural: Analysis Based On Data from Households 24 out of 30 Districts.* Annual Status of Education Report (ASER). Access: <u>http://img.asercentre.org/docs/aserkn3-pager_06.09.211.pdf</u>

Pratham. 2021. West Bengal Rural Analysis Based On Data From Households 17 out of 18 Districts December 2021. Annual Status of Education Report (ASER). Access: http://img.asercentre.org/docs/aserwb2021 findingsppt.pdf

Pratham. 2022a. Annual Status of Education Report Chhattisgarh (Rural) 2021. Annual Status of Education Report (ASER). Access: http://img.asercentre.org/docs/asercg2021_fullreport_11.01.2021.pdf

Pratham. 2022b. *Lessons from the Pandemic*. Queensland Department of Education. 2021. *The Samoan Response To Remote Learning During The Recent Covid-19 related school closures*. Access: https://www.pratham.org/covid-19-response/

Radhakrishnan, K. Angrist, N. Bergman, P. Cullen, C. Matsheng, M. Ramakrishnan, A. Sabarwal, S. and Sharma, U. 2021. *Learning in the Time of COVID-19: Insights from Nepal*. The World Bank. Access: <u>https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/35384</u>

Saavedra, J. August 2020. COVID-19 and Education: A World Bank Group Perspective. World Bank Blogs.

Access: https://blogs.worldbank.org/education/covid-19-education-world-bank-group-perspective

Sabine, M. Fraillon, J. Strietholt, R. (Eds.). 2022. *The impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Education: International Evidence from the Responses to Educational Disruption Survey (REDS)*. UNESCO. Access: <u>https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000380398</u>

Scoular, C. Ramalingam, D. Duckworth, D. and Heard, J. 2020. *Assessment of General Capabilities: Skills for the 21st-century Learner. Final report.* Australian Council for Educational Research (ACER). Access: https://research.acer.edu.au/ar_misc/47

Tarricone, P. Mestan, K. and Teo, I. 2021. *Building Resilient Education Systems: A Rapid Review of the Education in Emergencies Literature*. Australian Council for Educational Research (ACER). Access: <u>https://doi.org/10.37517/978-1-74286-639-0</u>

Tarricone, P. Teo, I. Mestan, K. Sundarsagar, K. Killimangalam, A. and Razak, N. A. 2021. *Flexible Strategies For Ensuring Quality Learning Outcomes In Education In Emergencies*. NEQMAP 2021 Thematic Review. UNESCO. Access: <u>https://research.acer.edu.au/int_research/6</u>

The Glossary of Education Reform. 2013. Learning loss definition. Access: https://www.edglossary.org/learning-loss/

The World Bank. 2021a. *What is Learning Poverty*. Access: <u>https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/education/brief/what-is-learning-poverty</u>

The World Bank. 2021b. *Long COVID* (World Bank East Asia and Pacific Economic Update, October 2021. The World Bank.

Access: https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/36295/9781464817991.pdf

The World Bank. 2022a. Poverty Headcount ratio at \$1.90 a day. 2011 PPP. (percentage of population). Access:

https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SI.POV.DDAY?end=2021&start=2000&type=shaded&view=chart &year=2018

The World Bank. 2022b. *DataBank: Poverty and Equity Database*. Access: <u>https://databank.worldbank.org/source/poverty-and-equity</u>

UIS. 2019. New Methodology Shows that 258 million Children, Adolescents and Youth are out of school. Access: <u>http://uis.unesco.org/sites/default/files/documents/new-methodology-shows-258-million-children-adolescents-and-youth-are-out-school.pdf</u>

UIS. 2021. School Closures and Regional Policies to Mitigate Learning Loss due to COVID-19: A Focus on the Asia-Pacific. Access: <u>https://bangkok.unesco.org/index.php/content/school-closures-and-regional-policies-mitigate-learning-loss-due-covid-19-focus-asia</u>

UNESCO. 2015. Education For All Global Monitoring Report Policy Paper 21. Access: http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0023/002335/233557E.pdf

UNESCO. 2020. Don't remediate, accelerate! Effective catch-up learning strategies: Evidence from the United States. Access: <u>https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000374029</u>

UNESCO 2020b. *Managing High-Stakes Assessments And Exams During Crisis*. Access: https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000373387

UNESCO. 2021a. *Total Duration Of School Closures*. https://en.unesco.org/covid19/educationresponse#durationschoolclosures

UNESCO. (2021b). School Closures and Regional Policies to Mitigate Learning Loss due to COVID-19: A Focus on the Asia-Pacific. UIS, UNESCO Asia and Pacific Regional Bureau for Education. Access: https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000378429

UNESCO. 2021c. *When Schools Shut: Gendered Impacts of COVID-19 School Closures*. <u>UNESCO. 2022</u>. Access: <u>https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000381329/PDF/381329eng.pdf.multi</u>

Global Education Monitoring Report – Gender Report: Deepening the debate on those still left behind.

UNESCO & UNICEF. 2021a. 5-Year Progress Review of SDG 4 – Education 2030 in Asia-Pacific. Access: https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/SDG%20Report%20FINAL%20110821%20-%20 Online%20Release.pdf

UNESCO and UNICEF. 2021a. *China Case Study: Situation Analysis on the Effects of and Responses to COVID-19 on the Education Sector in Asia.* Access: <u>https://www.unicef.org/eap/media/9321/file/Sit%20An%20-%20China%20Case%20Study.pdf</u>

UNESCO and UNICEF. 2021b. Indonesia Case Study: Situation Analysis on the Effects of and Responses to COVID-19 on the Education Sector in Asia. Access: https://www.unicef.org/eap/media/9326/file/Sit%20An%20-%20Indonesia%20case%20study.pdf

UNESCO and UNICEF. 2021c. Japan Case Study: Situation Analysis on the Effects of and Responses to COVID-19 on the Education Sector in Asia. Access: https://www.unicef.org/eap/media/9331/file/Sit%20An%20-%20Japan%20Case%20study.pdf

UNESCO & UNICEF. 2021d. Lao PDR Case Study: Situation Analysis on the Effects of and Responses to COVID-19 on the Education Sector in Asia. https://www.unicef.org/eap/media/9336/file/Sit%20An%20-%20Lao%20PDR%20case%20study.pdf

UNESCO and UNICEF. 2021e. *Republic of Korea Case Study: Situation Analysis on the Effects of and Responses to COVID-19 on the Education Sector in Asia*. Access: <u>https://www.unicef.org/eap/media/9416/file/Republic%20of%20Korea%20Case%20Study.pdf</u>

UNESCO & UNICEF. 2022. SDG 4 Goal Profile—16 March 2022 (Policy Brief). Access: https://unescap.org/sites/default/d8files/knowledge-products/SDG%204%20Profile%20%281%29.pdf

UNESCO, UNICEF and The World Bank. 2020. *What Have We Learnt? Overview of Findings from a Survey of Ministries of Education on National Responses to COVID-19*. UNESCO, UNICEF, the World Bank. Access: <u>https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/34700</u>

UNESCO 2022. Contribution to the 2022 High-Level Political Forum on Sustainable Development: Building back better from the coronavirus disease (COVID-19) while advancing the full implementation of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. Global Education Mechanism.

UNICEF. 2020a. UNICEF Education COVID-19 Case Study: Fiji and Vanuatu – Responding to Overlapping Emergencies. 18 November 2020. Access:

<u>https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/201118_eapro_case_study_pacific_overlappin</u> <u>g_disasters.pdf</u>

UNICEF. 2020b. *Guidance on Distance Learning Modalities: To Reach all Children and Youth During School Closures – Focusing on low- and no-tech modalities to reach the most marginalized.* UNICEF Regional Office for South Asia. Access:

https://www.unicef.org/rosa/media/7996/file/Guidance%20Continuity%20of%20Learning%20during% 20COVID-19%20-%20Reaching%20All%20Children_UNICEF%20ROSA.pdf

UNICEF. 2020c. Program Document for COVID-19 Accelerated Funding for Cambodia. GPE. Access: https://www.globalpartnership.org/content/program-document-covid-19-accelerated-funding-cambodia-2020

UNICEF and SEAMEO. 2020. *SEA-PLM 2019 Main Regional Report: Children's learning in 6 Southeast Asian countries*. Bangkok, Thailand: UNICEF and Southeast Asian Ministers of Education Organization (SEAMEO) – SEA-PLM Secretariat. Access:

https://www.seaplm.org/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=44&Itemid=332&Iang=en

UNICEF, UNESCO and the World Bank. 2022. Where are we on Education Recovery? Access:

https://www.unicef.org/media/117626/file/Where%20are%20we%20in%20Education%20Recovery?.p df

USAID. 2020. Reigniting Learning: Strategies for Accelerating Learning Post-Crisis.

van Cappelle, F. Chopra, V. Ackers, J. and Gochyyev, P. 2021. An analysis of the Reach and Effectiveness of Distance Learning in India during School Closures due to COVID-19. *International Journal of Educational Development*, *85*,1-10. Access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijedudev.2021.102439</u>

WFP. 2021. *School Feeding Amidst a Pandemic: Preparing for the New Normal in Asia and the Pacific.* Access: <u>https://docs.wfp.org/api/documents/WFP-</u>

0000132125/download/? ga=2.114367951.953259664.1653269267-1556260418.1653269267

Wong, D. Hollingsworth, H. Anderson, P. Weldon, P. R. Ockwell, L. Kwong, R. and Ozolins, C. 2021. *Teacher Development Multi-Year Study Series: Evaluation of Australia's Investment in Teacher Development in Lao PDR: Baseline Report*. Australian Government Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade. Access: <u>https://research.acer.edu.au/teacher_education/24</u>

Yarrow, N. and Bhardwaj, R. May 2020. *Indonesia's Education Technology During COVID-19 and Beyond*. World Bank Blogs. Access: <u>https://blogs.worldbank.org/eastasiapacific/indonesias-education-technology-during-covid-19-and-beyond</u>

Acknowledgement

The Global Education Monitoring (GEM) Centre, a long-term partnership between the Australian Council for Educational Research (ACER) and the Australian Government's Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade (DFAT), provided in-kind contribution to support the development of this paper. Peer review was provided by: Huong Le Thu and Soumaya Maghnouj (UNESCO), Ivan Coursac and Erin Tanner (UNICEF), and Michel Belisle (SPC). The paper was produced under the overall supervision of Margarete Sachs-Israel, Chief of Section for Inclusive and Quality Education at UNESCO Bangkok.

Published in 2022 by the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization, 7, place de Fontenoy, 75352 Paris 07 SP, France and UNESCO Bangkok Office

© UNESCO 2022



This technical paper is available in Open Access under the Attribution-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO (CC-BY-SA 3.0 IGO) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-sa/3.0/igo/). By using the content of this technical paper, the users accept to be bound by the terms of use of the UNESCO Open Access Repository (http://www.unesco.org/open-access/terms-use-ccbysa-en). Open Access is not applicable to non-UNESCO photos protected by copyright in this technical paper and may not be used or reproduced without the prior permission of the copyright holders.

The designations employed and the presentation of material throughout this technical paper do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of UNESCO concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries.

The ideas and opinions expressed in this technical paper are those of the authors; they are not necessarily those of UNESCO and do not commit the Organization.

TH/DOC/IQE/22/002-26-Rev.1

UNESCO – a global leader in education

Education is UNESCO's top priority because it is a basic human right and the foundation for peace and sustainable development. UNESCO is the United Nations' specialized agency for education, providing global and regional leadership to drive progress, strengthening the resilience and capacity of national systems to serve all learners. UNESCO also leads efforts to respond to contemporary global challenges through transformative learning, with special focus on gender equality and Africa across all actions.



UNESCO, as the United Nations' specialized agency for education, is entrusted to lead and coordinate the Education 2030 Agenda, which is part of a global movement to eradicate poverty through 17 Sustainable Development Goals by 2030. Education, essential to achieve all of these goals, has its own dedicated Goal 4, which aims to "ensure inclusive and equitable quality education and promote lifelong learning opportunities for all." The Education 2030 Framework for Action provides guidance for the implementation of this ambitious goal and commitments.



United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization



Stay in touch



iqe.bgk@unesco.org



https://bangkok.unesco.org



@unescobangkok



@unescobangkok

UNESCO Bangkok Office

Section for Inclusive Quality Education (IQE)

920 Sukhumvit Road, Prakanong, Klongtoei, Bangkok 10110, Thailand

